ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

APR 22 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRYL L. DRAYTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213295

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The trial court's refusal to charge the jury with an explanation concerning how to use circumstantial evidence violated Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights requiring the prosecution prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt because the charge given confused the jury regarding how to evaluate circumstantial evidence.

II. In violation of Appellant's state constitutional right to privacy and statutory right to protection against defective search warrants, the trial judge erred in admitting the historical cell service location information obtained from Appellant's cellular service provider by a search warrant lacking probable cause where Appellant had standing to challenge the search warrant and the trial judge required only a showing of a reasonable grounds to obtain the records.

III. In violation of Appellant's right to present a complete defense and to due process of law, the trial judge erred in limiting Appellant's cross-examination of the pathologist concerning the toxicology report relating to the deceased, which demonstrated the deceased had high levels of drugs in her system at the time of her death.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its December 2010 term, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2010 – GS – 10 – 8551). R. 572 (Indictment). The state represented by Jennifer Shealy and Timothy Finch called the case to trial before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. and a jury on October 1, 2012. Ashley Pennington and Michael Cooper represented Appellant. R. 1-2. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 530 lines 19 – 23. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17 – 25 – 45, Judge Nicholson sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 535, lines 8 – 11; R. 574(Sentence sheet). On October 10, 2012, Appellant filed a motion for a new trial. R. 569 (Motion for New Trial). On October 17, 2012, Judge Nicholson denied the motion. R. 571 (Order).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 9, 2010, Michael Bartley reported his fiancée, Alexis, missing to the police in Beaufort County. R. 76, lines 10-11. Bartley admitted that Alexis took prescription medications that had not been prescribed for her. R. 68, lines 1-3. Bartley explained that while he and his children were visiting with his parents on August 8, 2010, Alexis stayed at home due to an allergic reaction. R. 70, lines 4-25. Later, Alexis called Bartley to say she planned to take “D” to Charleston to get prescription pills. Alexis explained that she would receive pills and gas money in exchange for driving. R. 72, lines 20-25. Alexis and Bartley last spoke at 8:19 p.m. when she said that she was on the road and would be home soon. R. 73, lines 1-16. However, the following day, Alexis had not returned home. R. 76, lines 4-11.

During the early morning hours of Monday, August 9, 2010, Jackie Seward found a body along a dirt road in Charleston County. Seward reported his findings to the police. R. 116, line 21 – R. 118, lines 13. An examination of the body found in Charleston County revealed it was Alexis [hereinafter referred to as “the deceased”]. An autopsy revealed the deceased died as a result of incisions to her neck which transected her carotid artery. R. 447, lines 12-14. On August 10, 2010, the Bluffton Police Department located a car and later learned the car belonged to the deceased. R. 192, lines 15-24.

Steven Edwards, Appellant’s cousin, testified that on August 10, 2010, Appellant arrived at his door during the early morning hours. R. 126, lines 3-11; R. 127, lines 8-22. Appellant needed a ride to the hospital because he had injured his finger. R. 127, line 24 – R. 128, line 1; R. 130, lines 1-6. Edwards took Appellant to the hospital. R. 130, lines 18-22. After Appellant received treatment for his injured finger, Edwards took him to a jewelry

store. R. 132, lines 12-18.¹ Edwards and Appellant spent the next two nights in a hotel in Hardeeville. R. 133, lines 17-25; R. 135, lines 14-21. When Edwards returned home, he found trash that did not belong to him. He called the police who responded and collected the items. R. 138, line 1- R. 154, line 25.

Although numerous items of evidence were collected from the car and trash recovered from Edwards' home, very few were tested forensically. Of the numerous swabs taken from the car, two from the car contained DNA consistent with Appellant's DNA profile and one contained a mixture of at least two profiles and Appellant could not be excluded as a minor contributor. R. 361, line 8 – R. 362, line 5; R. 364, lines 1-9; R. 364, line 17 – R. 365, line 3; R. 365, lines 20-23. Of the trash recovered from Edwards' residence, a swab from a CVS plastic bag contained a mixture of at least two people's DNA. The state's analyst determined the major contributor of the DNA was Appellant, but the remaining profiles were insufficient for reliable interpretation. R. 370, line 21 – R. 371, line 4. Additionally, a DNA profile developed from a swab taken from the left shoe recovered from the deceased's body was consistent with Appellant's DNA profile. R. 370, lines 7-14.

Kenneth Aycock, an employee for the Army National Guard counter-drug task force, testified for the prosecution. He explained he was assigned to the FBI safe streets task force, which required him to conduct cell phone tracking and analysis. R. 398, line 18 – R. 399, line 13. His review of the deceased's cell phone records indicated her phone was in the Bluffton area until then evening on August 8, 2010. R. 405, lines 2-12; R. 408, lines 1-9.

¹ Christopher Golis, an employee of the Golis Family Jewelers, testified that on August 9, 2010, he purchased a ring from Appellant. R. 181, lines 14-18; R. 183, lines 11-19; R. 186, lines 20-23. This ring was identified by Bartley as belonging to the deceased. R. 66, lines 2-12.

Calls made between 8:19 p.m. and 9:49 p.m. used cell tower 310 located in Ravenel. R. 408, line 23.

The records indicated Appellant's phone used towers in the Bluffton area between 9:08 a.m. and 6:36 p.m. on August 8, 2010. R. 410, line 20 – R. 411, line 4. Then, the phone used towers along Highway 17 between Bluffton and Charleston. R. 412, lines 15-23; R. 413, lines 11-13. Thereafter, the phone used towers in Charleston until 11:38 p.m. R. 414, lines 4-10. At 6:48 a.m., the next morning, the phone used a tower in Bluffton again. R. 415, line 24 – R. 416, line 2.

In summary, the prosecution presented evidence that the deceased told another of her intent to go to Charleston with Appellant, that Appellant's DNA was found on items belonging to the deceased, that Appellant was in possession of the deceased's ring shortly after her death, and that his cell phone was in the area of where the deceased's body was found during the evening of August 8, 2010.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court's refusal to charge the jury with an explanation concerning how to use circumstantial evidence violated Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights requiring the prosecution prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt because the charge given confused the jury regarding how to evaluate circumstantial evidence.

Relevant facts

Without question, the state's case against Appellant was purely circumstantial. At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Nicholson instructed the jury as follows concerning circumstantial evidence:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during trial. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately establishes a fact to be proven. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. It is evidence which immediately establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence is based on inference and not on personal knowledge or observation. The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all of the evidence in the case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty.

R. 516, line 10 – R. 517, line 3.

Appellant objected to the trial judge's instruction regarding circumstantial evidence. Appellant explained, "it is incumbent on the jury to sift the circumstances to see if the circumstances are proven beyond a reasonable doubt and are they consistent with each other, taken together, and pointing conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis." Additionally, Appellant provided a proposed jury instruction. Specifically, Appellant requested the court to instruct the jury as follows:

Every circumstance relied upon by the state [must] be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and ... all of the circumstances so proven be consistent with each other and taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis. It is not sufficient that they create a probability, though a strong one and if, assuming them to be true they may be accounted for upon any reasonable hypothesis which does not include the guilt of the accused, the proof has failed.

R. 526, line 1 – R. 529, line 15; R. 568(Court’s Exhibit 14): The judge denied Appellant’s request. R. 529, line 16.

Discussion

On August 14, 2013, the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the circumstantial evidence charge as given in criminal cases in South Carolina.² In State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013), the Court “revisited [its] past discussions regarding the circumstantial evidence charge, and articulate[d] for the benefit of the bench and bar a circumstantial evidence charge reflecting the proper balance between the state’s burden and the jury’s responsibility.” As the Court explained, the purpose of a clear jury instruction concerning analyzing circumstantial evidence is paramount. Id. Although direct and circumstantial evidence may carry the same weight, “a jury cannot accurately analyze these two types of evidence using identical approaches.” Id.

Specifically, circumstantial evidence, unlike direct evidence, “requires jurors to find that the proponent of the evidence has connected collateral facts in order to prove the proposition propounded.” Id. Thus, “[a]nalysis of circumstantial evidence is plainly a more intellectual process.” Id. In light of the differing analysis required when examining direct

² Trial counsel foresaw the Supreme Court’s ruling in Logan when he argued to the trial court that “[t]he Supreme Court, therefore is poised to overrule [State v. Cherry], 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004)] when presented with the appropriate case.” R. 568 (Court’s Exhibit #14).

versus circumstantial evidence, the Court provided a proper jury instruction for trial courts to use. Important for Appellant's case, the instruction directs jurors that "to the extent the state relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt." The instruction also provided that "[i]f these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed." Id.

Although the Court held that a trial judge may instruct the jury as to circumstantial evidence as provided in State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997) and State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2005), the Court held that a trial judge may not rely exclusively on that charge over a defendant's objection. Id.

As an initial matter, Appellant benefits from the Logan ruling as his case was pending on direct review and the issue was preserved for review. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612-613, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009) (citing Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 328 (1987) ("hold[ing] that a new rule for the conduct of criminal prosecutions is to be applied retroactively to all cases ... pending on direct review or not yet final), Harris v. State, 543 S.E.2d 716, 717-718 (Ga. 2001) (reversing a murder conviction and overruling precedent that had approved inference of intent to kill from use of a deadly weapon and applying the new rule "to all cases in the 'pipeline' – i.e., cases which are pending in direct review or not yet final"))).

Second, clear, cogent, and concise instructions directing the jury on how to analyze the circumstantial evidence before it were necessary in Appellant's case. The jury instruction concerning how a jury must evaluate circumstantial evidence was necessary in Appellant's trial due to the nature of the evidence presented by the prosecution.

Without question, a proper evaluation of circumstantial evidence requires connection of collateral facts to reach a conclusion, which is not required for evaluating direct evidence. According to our Supreme Court, the traditional circumstantial evidence language informs jurors regarding how to analyze circumstantial evidence – inferring main facts by making connections among collateral facts. The trial judge’s refusal to charge the jury with an explanation concerning how to use circumstantial evidence violated Appellant’s right to require the prosecution to prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. In violation of Appellant's state constitutional right to privacy and statutory right to protection against defective search warrants, the trial judge erred in admitting the historical cell service location information obtained from Appellant's cellular service provider by a search warrant lacking probable cause where Appellant had standing to challenge the search warrant and the trial judge required only a showing of a reasonable grounds to obtain the records.

Relevant facts

During a pre-trial hearing, Appellant moved to exclude his cell phone records, including the historical cell site location information, based upon the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article I, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, and sections 17-13-140 and 17-30-10 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. R. 3, lines 10-20; R. 545 (Court's Exhibit #2). For purposes of the hearing, the parties agreed to certain facts. R. 6, line 18 – R. 8, line 12; R. 543(Court's Exhibit #1).

On the evening of August 10, 2010, the police obtained a search warrant for Appellant's cell phone records. The warrant sought:

Any and all information in reference to the Verizon cellular telephone number 843-368-9422 to include, but not limited to, subscriber information, account comments, billing records, outbound and inbound calls to include blocked call information from August 6, 2010 to August 10, 2010. Subscriber information on other numbers listed in the report, call origination location, physical address of cell sites and coverage map, all stored communications, or files including voice mail, email, digital images, text messages, buddy lists, and any other files associated with the cellular target number 843-368-9422.

The search warrant was based upon the following information contained within an affidavit:

That on July 9, 2010, Charleston County Sheriff's Office responded to Old Jacksonboro Rd near Hwy. 174 in reference to a deceased person. Upon

arrival deputies discovered the body of a female victim on the side of Jacksonboro Rd. On August 9, 2010, Alexis J. Lukaitis was reported missing to the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office. The body of the deceased was later positively identified as being Alexis J. Lukaitis. Mike Bartley the fiancée of the victim stated that he last spoke to the victim on August 8, 2010 and she informed him that she was traveling to Charleston SC with Darryl Drayton AKA "D".

A separate witness came forward and provided information about a conversation between Darryl Drayton and a friend and neighbor of the victim named Shannon in which they discussed the murder of the victim.

Bartley provided the Verizon cellular telephone number 843-368-9422 as a contact number for Darryl Drayton. It is believed that the call log and information contained therein will provide information that is pertinent to the death investigation. All evidence being sought will be compared with evidence already obtained in the investigation.

R. 8, line 13 – R. 9, line 6; R. 545 (Court's Exhibit #2).³

As an initial matter, the judge ruled South Carolina's Interception of Wire, Electronic, or Oral Communications was not applicable to the instant matter. The judge determined the Act dealt with interceptions only, and law enforcement's acquisition of Appellant's historical cell-site location information was not an interception. R. 30, line 24 – R. 31, line 11.⁴

Turning to Appellant's challenge to the search warrant based upon the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, the judge ruled as follows.

³ The Court rightly discounted the statement contained in the affidavit regarding a separate witness. The parties agreed that a neighbor and friend of the deceased had spoken to Appellant regarding the deceased's death, but there was no "separate witness." Further, the parties agreed that the substance of the conversation was a denial by Appellant of any involvement in the deceased's disappearance and death. R. 42; R. 543 (Court's #1). Clearly, law enforcement used false information – "a separate witness" – in an attempt to shore up its very weak case of probable cause. See generally, Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978); United States v. Colkley, 299 F.2d 297 (4th Cir. 1990); State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394 (1999).

⁴ Appellant does not challenge the trial judge's ruling regarding the application of the Act.

regarding the standing issue: “this warrant was against Verizon, not the defendant in this particular case. Although it was subject to his own records and I do think he has standing.” The judge explained that he was following “the long line of federal cases that have stated there’s no expectation of privacy as to records.” R. 45, lines 9-22.

The judge then explained the standard he was using to evaluate the search warrant. He found the federal cases interpreting the Stored Communications Act⁵ to be persuasive authority for how South Carolina would address the issue. He announced that he was “not talking about probable cause in this search warrant, [he was] talking about reasonable grounds to believe that the records and other information sought [were] relevant and material to an ongoing and criminal investigation.” Based upon the persuasive authority, the judge said that because no statute or case explained whether law enforcement must obtain a warrant or court order to obtain the records, the judge would treat the “warrant as obtaining an order from the magistrate to obtain the records.” The judge concluded that the order obtained from the magistrate was sufficient to obtain the records and reasonable grounds were proven under the warrant. He ultimately concluded that probable cause was not necessary. R. 45, line 9 – R. 47, line 24. Appellant made clear his argument was that probable cause was necessary, but the judge rejected this argument. R. 48, lines 6-7.

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure . . . [from] unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const.

⁵ The Stored Communications Act was enacted as Title II of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act and may be found at 18 U.S.C. §§ 2701 – 2712.

amend. IV. South Carolina's Constitution provides: "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated." S.C. Const. Art. I, Section 10.

Standing

Appellant had standing to challenge the search warrant for his telephone records, including the historical cell site location information, based upon (1) his expectation of privacy emanating from South Carolina's Constitution and (2) South Carolina's warrant statute. Although some federal courts interpreting the federal constitution have concluded that an individual does not have an expectation of privacy in historical cell site location information, "[t]he South Carolina Constitution, with an express right to privacy provision included in the article prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures, favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment." See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 645, 541 S.E.2d 837, 841 (2001). Our Supreme Court explained, "the drafters of our state constitution's right to privacy provision were principally concerned with the emergence of new electronic technologies that increased the government's ability to conduct searches." Id. at 647, 541 S.E.2d at 842.⁶

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