**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
J.C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213295

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DARRYL L. DRAYTON,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT WILSON  
Solicitor, 9<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street, Ste. #400

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

“At best, the records in this case identify the closest cellular tower, whereas the pen register records at issue in *Smith* indicated the physical address of the defendant's telephone. The concept of a legitimate expectation of privacy in one's location or movement simply was not contemplated in those early telephone cases.” *Graham*, 846 F.Supp.2d at 399. Also, Drayton has not argued that these records revealed his movement in protected areas, such as his home, and he did not have any “subjective expectation of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable,” *see Katz*, 389 U.S. at 361 (Harlan, J., concurring), either while traveling along the streets and highways or in committing his crime and the cover-up in an open area visible to the public.

Unlike [*United States v. Karo*, 468 U.S. 705, 715 (1984)], where the electronic beeper concealed in the drum of ether disclosed not only the location of defendant's home, but also the fact that criminal activity was afoot (which featured prominently in the search warrant affidavit), there is nothing presumptively illegal about the possession of a cellular phone. The most that the “tracked” cell phone might reveal is that its owner might presently be found in the home (assuming that the phone had not been loaned to someone else). There is nothing, however, about that disclosure that is any more incriminating or revealing than what could be gleaned from the activation of a pen register or from physical surveillance. Moreover, outside of the home it is doubtful that the tracking of a cell phone has any Fourth Amendment implication whatsoever. *See Karo*, 468 U.S. at 713-72.

*In re Applications of the United States for Orders Pursuant to Title 18, U.S. Code Section 2703(d)*, 509 F.Supp.2d at 81. *See also United States v. Knotts*, 460 U.S. 276, 281 (1983);

*Skinner*, 690 F.3d at 777-78 (defendant had no legitimate expectation of privacy in the data given off by his voluntarily procured pay-as-you-go cell phone and, since he was on public road before stopping at public restroom, police could have obtained same information by visual surveillance).<sup>31</sup>

Finally, and again unlike the GPS monitor surreptitiously installed in *Jones*, Drayton could have simply turned off his cell phone or not used it while committing the crime. At least one court has recognized that “cell phone users who fail to turn off their cell phones do not exhibit an expectation of privacy and such expectation would not be reasonable in any event.” *In re Smartphone Geolocation Data Application*, 2013 WL 5583711, \*16 (E.D.N.Y., May 1, 2013). Therefore, Drayton did not have a reasonable expectation of the cell site location records and the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement did not apply.

**b. There was no violation of right to privacy protected by S.C. Const. art. I, § 10.**

Nor does S.C. Const. article I, § 10 require a different result, even though the South Carolina Constitution extends greater protections than the Fourth Amendment because it specifically protects the people’s right to privacy. *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643-45, 541

---

<sup>31</sup> Drayton has abandoned his contention that *Jones*, supra, requires reversal by not arguing this in his brief. See Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR (each “particular issue to be addressed shall be set forth in distinctive type, followed by discussion and citations of authority”); *Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 344, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003) (holding issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and precluded from consideration on appeal). Further, and unlike *Jones*, here, the actions of the police were subject to judicial review. See *Graham*, 846 F.Supp.2d at 392. Also, the State did not record the information. See *In re United States for Historical Cell Site Data*, 724 F.3d at 609-10. Further, there was no trespass, the location data was far less precise and was not continuous or for an extended period of time, see *Graham*, 846 F.Supp.2d at 392; and, Drayton could have defeated the ability to so locate him by either turning off his cell phone or simply not calling anyone. Thus, there could be no Fourth Amendment violation under the theory of the majority in *Jones*, which focused upon the officers committed a trespass by attaching the device without a valid warrant, 132 S.Ct. at 949, as well as the concurring opinions, which included *obiter dictum* finding that “use of long[] term GPS monitoring in investigations of most offenses impinges on expectations of privacy.” See *Jones*, 132 S.Ct. at 955-57 (Sotomayor, concurring); *id.* at 961-64 (Alito, J., concurring in the judgment). See also *State v. Dykes*, 403 S.C. 49, 516-20, 744 S.E.2d 505, 514-16 (2013) (Hearn, J., dissenting).

S.E.2d 837, 840-41 (2001).<sup>32</sup> Art. I, § 10 was not infringed because, for the reasons set forth above, there was no legitimate expectation of privacy in Verizon’s cell site location records to be protected by this state constitutional protection of his right to privacy. In other words, to the extent Drayton may have had a subjective expectation of privacy while voluntarily using his cell phone in public places, in and around the time that he murdered the victim, “this expectation is not ‘one that society is prepared to recognize as ‘reasonable.’” ” *Smith*, 442 U.S. at 743 (citing *Katz*, 389 U.S., at 361. *See also Florida v. Riley*, 488 U.S. 445, 696 (1989) (officer's observation, with his naked eye, of interior of partially covered greenhouse in residential backyard from vantage point of helicopter circling 400 feet above did not constitute a “search” for which a warrant was required, because “ ‘[w]hat a person knowingly exposes to the public, even in his own home or office, is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection.’” ). There is simply no valid reason for extending the protections of the state constitutional right to privacy to protect the cell site location data. Also, for the reasons set forth in the preceding footnote, Respondent submits that the concerns expressed in the two concurring opinions in *Jones* and the concerns stated in the dissenting opinion in *Dykes* were satisfied.

**2. The State complied with the provisions of the SCA.**

Contrary to Drayton’s argument, which is not supported by any authority other than a general citation to the SCA, *see Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 15*, Respondent submits that law enforcement complied with the provisions of the Stored Communications Act (SCA), 18 U.S.C. §§ 2701-2712. Specifically, § 2703(c)(1) provides, in pertinent part, that “[a] governmental entity may require a provider of electronic communication service or ... to disclose a record or other information pertaining to a subscriber to or customer of such service (not including the

---

<sup>32</sup> It should be noted that the Court in *Forrester* refused to hold that the state constitutional right to privacy provision requires police officers to inform citizens that they have the right to refuse consensual searches and that, without such a warning, a search is involuntary. *Id.* at 645-48, 541 S.E.2d at 841-43.

contents of communications) only when the governmental entity” either (A) obtains a warrant “issued using State warrant procedures ... by a court of competent jurisdiction; ... [or] (B) obtains a court order for such disclosure under subsection (d) of this section.” In turn, § 2703(d) provides that:

A court order for disclosure under subsection (b) or (c) may be issued by any court that is a court of competent jurisdiction and shall issue only *if the governmental entity offers specific and articulable facts showing that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the contents of a wire or electronic communication, or the records or other information sought, are relevant and material to an ongoing criminal investigation.* In the case of a State governmental authority, such a court order shall not issue if prohibited by the law of such State. A court issuing an order pursuant to this section, on a motion made promptly by the service provider, may quash or modify such order, if the information or records requested are unusually voluminous in nature or compliance with such order otherwise would cause an undue burden on such provider.

Here, the record, including the redacted affidavit in support of the warrant (*see Court's Exhibit 2, R. p. \_\_\_; Tr. pp. 65-67*),<sup>33</sup> supports the trial judge’s finding that the State complied with these requirements.

‘The ‘specific and articulable facts’ standard is a lesser showing than the probable cause standard that is required by the Fourth Amendment to obtain a warrant.’ *In re U.S. for Historical Cell Site Data*, 724 F.3d at 606; *see also Graham*, 846 F.Supp.2d at 396. Respondent submits that this standard was satisfied. Further, a magistrate is a court of competent jurisdiction. Likewise, there is no merit to Drayton’s contention that police “obtained a search warrant, not a court order, and must be held accountable to the chosen method for pursuing the historical cell site location information.” **Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 15.** His argument ignores that the trial judge did not find that the warrant lacked probable cause. Rather, he found that it was

---

<sup>33</sup> The redacted language in the warrant states that Mr. Bartley, the fiancé of the victim, last spoke to the victim on August 8, 2010. She informed him that she was traveling to Charleston, South Carolina, with Drayton, also known as "D". Bartley also provided the Verizon cellular telephone number of Drayton. Further, the affidavit stated that “it is believed that the call or and information contained in here will provide information as pertinent to the death investigation. All evidence being sought will be compared with evidence already obtained in this investigation.”

unnecessary to obtain a warrant because Drayton did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the Verizon records, and he found that the magistrate's issuance of the warrant satisfied the order requirement of the SCA. Drayton's argument in this regard ignores that the warrant issued was an "order."

**3. The provisions of § 17-13-140 were inapplicable.**

Respondent further submits that Also, the provisions of § 17-13-140 (2003) are inapplicable because neither the Fourth Amendment nor article I, § 10 required a warrant, and the warrant issued was construed as an order authorizing a subpoena for the disputed records under the SCA.

**4. The Fourth Amendment compulsory process requirement was satisfied.**

Also, the order, which was narrowly drawn and issued to the cellular provider, satisfied the Fourth Amendment's very limited requirements for compulsory process. A § 2703(d) order for cell-site records is a form of compulsory process, like a subpoena, and the Fourth Amendment sets a reasonableness standard rather than a warrant requirement for compulsory process. *Miller*, 425 U.S. at 444 & n. 6. The Supreme Court has long held that "the Fourth [Amendment], if applicable [to a subpoena], at the most guards against abuse only by way of too much indefiniteness or breadth in the things required to be 'particularly described,' if also the inquiry is one the demanding agency is authorized by law to make and the materials specified are relevant." *Oklahoma Press Publishing Co. v. Walling*, 327 U.S. 186, 208 (1946). *See also Miller*, 425 U.S. at 445-46.

Compulsory process authority is critical to the truth-seeking function of the criminal justice process. "To ensure that justice is done, it is imperative to the function of courts that compulsory process be available for the production of evidence needed either by the prosecution

or by the defense.” *United States v. Nixon*, 418 U.S. 683, 709 (1974).<sup>34</sup> Therefore, there was no violation of the Fourth Amendment and Drayton “lacks the requisite Fourth Amendment interest to challenge the [order].” *Miller*, 425 U.S. at 446.

##### **5. Good faith reliance upon the warrant issued and harmless error.**

Alternatively, this Court should deny relief both because the officers acted in good faith reliance upon the warrant that was issued, regardless of whether there was probable cause to issue the warrant, and because any error in admitting the records was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Although Respondent submits that there was probable cause to issue a search warrant based upon the supporting affidavit,<sup>35</sup> suppression of the records was not required even if there was no probable cause because law enforcement acted in objectively good faith reliance upon the order that was issued. In *Davis v. United States*, 131 S.Ct. 2419, 2427 (2011), the Court explained that:

The basic insight of the [*United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984)] line of cases is that the deterrence benefits of exclusion “var[y] with the culpability of the law enforcement conduct” at issue. [*Herring v. United States*, 555 U.S. 135, 143 (2009)]. When the police exhibit “deliberate,” “reckless,” or “grossly negligent” disregard for Fourth Amendment rights, the deterrent value of exclusion is strong and tends to outweigh the resulting costs. *Id.*, at 144, 129 S.Ct. 695. But when the police act with an objectively “reasonable good-faith belief” that their conduct is lawful, *Leon, supra*, at 909, 104 S.Ct. 3405 (internal quotation marks omitted), or when their conduct involves only simple, “isolated” negligence, *Herring, supra*, at 137, 129 S.Ct. 695, the “ ‘deterrence rationale loses much of its force,’ ” and

---

<sup>34</sup> See also *Wilson v. United States*, 221 U.S. 361, 376 (1911) (“there is no unreasonable search and seizure when a [subpoena], suitably specific and properly limited in its scope, calls for the production of documents which, as against their lawful owner to whom the writ is directed, the party procuring its issuance is entitled to have produced”).

<sup>35</sup> An affidavit supporting a warrant must set forth particular facts and circumstances underlying the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of probable cause. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). The duty of a reviewing court is to ensure that the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed under the “totality-of-the-circumstances” set forth in *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). *Baccus*, 367 S.C. at 50, 625 S.E.2d at 221. Respondent submits that this standard was met, notwithstanding Drayton’s contention that Bartley’s reliability was not set forth in the affidavit. To hold otherwise would preclude warrants based upon information provided by victim’s or other individuals who do not have lives that immerse them into criminal activities.

exclusion cannot “pay its way.” See *Leon*, *supra*, at 919, 908, n. 6, 104 S.Ct. 3405 (quoting [*United States v. Peltier*, 422 U.S. 531, 539 (1975)]).

“Where the alleged Fourth Amendment violation involves a search or seizure pursuant to a warrant, the fact that a neutral magistrate has issued a warrant is the clearest indication that the officers acted in an objectively reasonable manner or, as we have sometimes put it, in “objective good faith.” [*Leon*, 468 U.S. at 922–923].” *Messerschmidt v. Millender*, 132 S.Ct. 1235, 1245 (2012). A claim of good faith reliance on a warrant issued by a magistrate may be defeated only by a showing that the warrant was “based on an affidavit so lacking in *indicia* of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.” *Leon*, 468 U.S., at 923.<sup>36</sup> In spite of Drayton’s contrary position, Respondent submits that he cannot meet this standard because the officers did not act in “deliberate,” “reckless,” or “grossly negligent” disregard for Fourth Amendment rights,” *id.* at 909, as demonstrated. Thus, suppression was not required. *Id.*

Finally, any error in the introduction of the records or the information gleaned therefrom must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. See *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). First, the State presented DNA evidence that established his presence at the crime

---

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